Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-28-2020

State v. Dawkins Appellant's Brief Dckt. 48259

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

After Demariea Dawkins pled guilty to malicious injury to property, the district court sentenced him to five years, with two years fixed. Mr. Dawkins moved to reduce his sentence pursuant to Idaho Criminal Rule 35 (“Rule 35”). The district court denied his motion. Mr. Dawkins now appeals, and he argues the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence. He also argues the district court abused its discretion by denying his Rule 35 motion.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

The State filed a criminal complaint alleging Mr. Dawkins committed the crimes of malicious injury to property, failing to notify upon striking a car, failing to notify upon striking a fixture, reckless driving, and possession of an open alcohol container. (R., pp.15–17.) According to the presentence investigation report (PSI), Mr. Dawkins hit eleven cars while driving in a parking garage in downtown Boise. (PSI,¹ p.216.) After leaving the garage, he struck a light pole and traffic sign and left the scene. (PSI, p.216.) The police found a bottle of whiskey in the car. (PSI, pp.15, 216.) Mr. Dawkins was later identified as the driver. (PSI, pp.216–17.)

Mr. Dawkins waived a preliminary hearing, and the magistrate judge bound him over to district court. (R., pp.38, 39–41.) The State charged Mr. Dawkins by information with malicious injury to property, failing to notify upon striking a car, failing to notify upon striking a fixture, reckless driving, and possession of an open alcohol container. (R., pp.42–44.)

Pursuant to a plea agreement, Mr. Dawkins entered *Alford*² pleas to malicious injury to property and possession of an open alcohol container. (Tr. Vol. II,³ p.11, Ls5–6, p.11, L.25–p.12, L.22; R., p.46.)

The district court held a sentencing hearing. (R., p.49; *see* Tr. Vol. I.) The State recommended a sentence of five years, with two years fixed. (Tr., p.11, Ls.21–23.) Mr. Dawkins requested the district court place him on probation or retain jurisdiction (“a rider”). (Tr., p.30, L.20–p.31, L.7.) The district court agreed with the State’s recommendation and sentenced Mr. Dawkins to five years, with two years fixed, for malicious injury to property. (Tr. Vol. I,

¹ Citations to the PSI refer to the 332-page electronic document with the confidential exhibits.

² *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

³ There are two transcripts on appeal contained in one electronic document. The first transcript, cited as Volume I, contains the sentencing hearing. The second transcript, cited as Volume II, contains the entry of plea hearing. Each will be cited here with reference to their internal pagination.

p.41, Ls.5–10.) For possession of an open container, the district court sentenced him to 148 days in jail, with 148 days of credit for time served. (R., p.51.)

Mr. Dawkins filed a timely Rule 35 motion from the district court’s judgment of conviction. (R., pp.50–53, 55–61.) Mr. Dawkins requested the district court reduce his fixed time for malicious injury to property to one year, with four years indeterminate. (R., p.55.) The district court denied his motion. (R., pp.62–64.) Mr. Dawkins timely appealed. (R., pp.67–69.)

ISSUES

- I. Did the district court abuse its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence of five years, with two years fixed, upon Mr. Dawkins for malicious injury to property?
- II. Did the district court abuse its discretion by denying Mr. Dawkins’s Rule 35 motion for a reduction in his fixed time?

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Abused Its Discretion By Imposing An Excessive Sentence Of Five Years, With Two Years Fixed, Upon Mr. Dawkins For Malicious Injury To Property

“It is well-established that ‘[w]here a sentence is within statutory limits, an appellant has the burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion on the part of the court imposing the sentence.’” *State v. Pierce*, 150 Idaho 1, 5 (2010) (quoting *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997) (alteration in original)). Here, Mr. Dawkins’s sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum. See I.C. § 18-7001(2) (one-year minimum, five year maximum). Accordingly, to show the sentence imposed was unreasonable, Mr. Dawkins “must show that the sentence, in light of the governing criteria, is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts.” *State v. Strand*, 137 Idaho 457, 460 (2002). The district court’s decisions to retain jurisdiction or place a

defendant on probation are also reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Jones*, 141 Idaho 673, 677 (Ct. App. 2005); *State v. Landreth*, 118 Idaho 613, 615 (Ct. App. 1990).

“‘Reasonableness’ of a sentence implies that a term of confinement should be tailored to the purpose for which the sentence is imposed.” *State v. Adamcik*, 152 Idaho 445, 483 (2012) (quoting *State v. Stevens*, 146 Idaho 139, 148 (2008)).

In examining the reasonableness of a sentence, the Court conducts an independent review of the entire record available to the trial court at sentencing, focusing on the objectives of criminal punishment: (1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public; (3) possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing.

Stevens, 146 Idaho at 148. “A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution.” *State v. Delling*, 152 Idaho 122, 132 (2011).

Here, Mr. Dawkins asserts the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence under any reasonable view of the facts. Specifically, he contends the district court should have sentenced him to a lesser term of imprisonment, a rider, or probation in light of the mitigating factors.

For example, Mr. Dawkins’s alcohol abuse issues, the impact of his alcohol use on his behavior, and his need for treatment are strong factors in mitigation. A sentencing court should give “proper consideration of the defendant’s alcoholic problem, the part it played in causing [the] defendant to commit the crime and the suggested alternatives for treating the problem.” *State v. Nice*, 103 Idaho 89, 91 (1982). The impact of substance or alcohol abuse on the defendant’s criminal conduct is “a proper consideration in mitigation of punishment upon sentencing.” *State v. Osborn*, 102 Idaho 405, 414 n.5 (1981). Here, Mr. Dawkins was [REDACTED] when he committed the instant offense, (PSI, p.214), but he had abused

alcohol since he was [REDACTED]. (PSI, p.236.) His mother was an alcoholic, and he grew up very poor. (PSI, p.232.) He never met or knew his father. (PSI, p.232.) At the sentencing hearing, he explained to the district court, “I do realize I really could use treatment.” (Tr., p.32, Ls.16–17.) He hoped to attend Recovery for Life’s program. (Tr., p.32, Ls.18–20.) Mr. Dawkins’s alcohol problem and need for treatment stand in favor of mitigation.

In addition, Mr. Dawkins was remorseful and had a supportive adult role model. Acceptance of responsibility, remorse, and regret are all factors in favor of mitigation. *State v. Shideler*, 103 Idaho 593, 595 (1982). Although he did not remember the incident that led to the charged offense, he was “remorseful and sorry for the victims that were involved.” (Tr., p.32, Ls.12–15.) Further, an older man that took on a father-figure role in Mr. Dawkins’s life remained supportive of him. (PSI, pp.232–33. 330–31.) He wrote that Mr. Dawkins was “a young man of decent character” who had done “some rather stupid things.” (PSI, p.331.) He believed that Mr. Dawkins could learn from his mistakes. (PSI, pp.331.) Mr. Dawkins’s goals were to be happy and have a normal life. (PSI, p.237.) This mitigating information also supports a more lenient sentence.

In sum, Mr. Dawkins maintains the district court did not exercise reason and thus abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence of five years, with two years fixed, for malicious injury to property. He contends proper consideration of the mitigating factors in his case warranted a lesser sentence, a rider, or probation.

II.

The District Court Abused Its Discretion By Denying Mr. Dawkins's Rule 35 Motion For A Reduction In His Fixed Time

“A Rule 35 motion for reduction of sentence is essentially a plea for leniency, addressed to the sound discretion of the court.” *State v. Carter*, 157 Idaho 900, 903 (Ct. App. 2014). In reviewing the grant or denial of a Rule 35 motion, the Court must “consider the entire record and apply the same criteria used for determining the reasonableness of the original sentence.” *Id.* The Court “conduct[s] an independent review of the record, having regard for the nature of the offense, the character of the offender and the protection of the public interest.” *State v. Burdett*, 134 Idaho 271, 276 (Ct. App. 2000). “Where an appeal is taken from an order refusing to reduce a sentence under Rule 35,” the Court’s scope of review “includes all information submitted at the original sentencing hearing and at the subsequent hearing held on the motion to reduce.” *State v. Araiza*, 109 Idaho 188, 189 (Ct. App. 1985). “When presenting a Rule 35 motion, the defendant must show that the sentence is excessive in light of new or additional information subsequently provided to the district court in support of the Rule 35 motion.” *State v. Huffman*, 144 Idaho 201, 203 (2007).

Here, Mr. Dawkins provided new and additional information to support his request for a reduction in his fixed time to one year. (R., p.56.) In a letter to the district court, Mr. Dawkins explained that he took accountability and accepted responsibility for his actions and harm to the victims. (R., p.59.) He also recognized that his difficult childhood had an impact on his behavior, and he had to come to terms with that and learn how to change. (R., p.59.) He realized “drinking is an issue for me.” (R., p.59.) He hoped to become a productive member of society and work to pay restitution to the victims. (R., p.60.) In addition, due to the covid-19 pandemic, he asked to

have a reduction in his fixed time so he could be with his family instead of a “lockdown facility” with an increasing infection rate. (R., p.60.)

This new and additional information in Mr. Dawkins’s letter showed that his initial sentence of five years, with two years fixed, was excessive. Proper consideration of this information supported a reduction in his sentence to one year fixed, with four years indeterminate. Therefore, Mr. Dawkins submits the district court did not exercise reason and thus abused its discretion when it denied his Rule 35 motion.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Dawkins respectfully requests this Court reduce his sentence as it deems appropriate. In the alternative, he respectfully requests this Court vacate his judgment of conviction and remand this case to the district court for a new sentencing hearing. Alternatively, he respectfully requests this Court reverse or vacate the district court’s order denying his Rule 35 motions and remand this case to the district court for a new Rule 35 motion hearing.