Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-29-2021

State v. Dawkins Respondent's Brief Dckt. 48259

ISSUES

1. Has Demariea Levon Dawkins failed to show that the district court abused its sentencing discretion when it imposed a unified sentence of five years, with two years fixed, upon his conviction for malicious injury to property?
2. Has Dawkins failed to show that the district court abused its discretion when it denied his Idaho Criminal Rule 35 motion?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

While driving, Dawkins struck eleven vehicles in a parking garage. (PSI, p.216.¹) At one point, Dawkins swerved directly into the path of an oncoming vehicle and hit it head on, which caused the driver to suffer whiplash and a concussion. (PSI, pp.217-18; Tr. Vol. I, p.9, L.14 – p.10, L.10.) Dawkins fled the parking garage in his car. (PSI, p.216.) After leaving the parking garage, Dawkins struck a light pole and traffic control sign with his car. (Id.) At that point, he abandoned his car and fled on foot. (Id.) Officers discovered an open container of whiskey behind the driver’s seat of his abandoned car. (PSI, pp.216, 284.) Dawkins texted an acquaintance following the incident and stated that he was “heading to [his] cabin” and “[h]iding from cops.” (PSI, pp.134-36, 216-17; Tr. Vol I, p.36, Ls.8-20.) When the acquaintance asked what he had done, Dawkins replied, “Check the news” and bragged “I’m famous.” (PSI, pp.216-17.)

The state charged Dawkins with felony malicious injury to property, failure to notify upon striking an unattended vehicle, failure to notify upon striking fixtures, reckless driving, and possession of an open container of alcohol in a motor vehicle. (R., pp.42-44.) Pursuant to a plea agreement, Dawkins entered Alford² pleas to malicious injury to property and possession of an open container. (R., p.46; Tr., Vol. II, p.8, Ls.19-24, p.9, L.16 – p.10, L.5, p.11, L.25 – p.12, L.22.) The remaining charges were dismissed. (R., p.52.)

During sentencing, the state recommended a unified sentence of five years, with two years fixed. (Tr. Vol. I, p.11, L.16 – p.12, L.9.) Dawkins requested probation and alternatively a period of retained jurisdiction. (Tr. Vol. I, p.30, L.20 – p.31, L.16.) The district court imposed a unified sentence of five years, with two years fixed. (R., pp.50-54; Tr. Vol. I, p.41, Ls.5-10.)

¹ The state adopts the Appellant’s citation designations. (See Appellant’s brief, p.2, nn.1, 3.)

² North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

Dawkins timely filed a motion pursuant to Rule 35. (R., pp.55-61.) He requested that the fixed portion of his sentence be reduced to just one year. (R., p.55.) The district court found that Dawkins had not presented any facts showing that his original sentence was unduly harsh or excessive and thus denied the motion without a hearing. (R., pp.62-64.)

Dawkins timely appealed. (R., pp.67-70.)

ARGUMENT

I.

Dawkins Has Failed Show That The District Court Abused Its Sentencing Discretion

A. Introduction

The district court imposed a unified sentence of five years, with two years fixed. (R., pp.50-54.) On appeal, Dawkins contends his sentence is excessive in light of mitigating factors. (Appellant's brief, pp.3-5.) According to Dawkins, proper consideration of mitigating factors such as his history of alcohol abuse, his expression of remorse, and a supportive adult role model warranted a lesser sentence of either probation or a rider. (Id.) The record supports the sentence imposed.

B. Standard Of Review

When evaluating whether a sentence is excessive, the court considers the entire length of the sentence under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. McIntosh, 160 Idaho 1, 8, 368 P.3d 621, 628 (2016); State v. Stevens, 146 Idaho 139, 148, 191 P.3d 217, 226 (2008). It is presumed that the fixed portion of the sentence will be the defendant's probable term of confinement. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 687, 391 (2007).

C. Dawkins Has Shown No Abuse Of The District Court's Sentencing Discretion

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it imposed a unified sentence of five years, with two years fixed. "A sentence fixed within the limits prescribed by the statute will ordinarily not be considered an abuse of discretion by the trial court." McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (quoting State v. Nice, 103 Idaho 89, 90, 645 P.2d 323, 324 (1982)). Furthermore, where a sentence fits within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. Id. (citations omitted). To carry this burden the appellant must

show the sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts. Id. To establish that the sentence was excessive, the appellant must demonstrate that reasonable minds could not conclude the sentence was appropriate to accomplish the sentencing goals of protecting society, deterrence, rehabilitation, and retribution. State v. Farwell, 144 Idaho 732, 736, 170 P.3d 397, 401 (2007).

A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution. McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (citation omitted). The district court has the discretion to weigh those objectives and give them differing weights when deciding upon the sentence. Id. at 9, 368 P.3d at 629; State v. Moore, 131 Idaho 814, 825, 965 P.2d 174, 185 (1998) (holding district court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the objectives of punishment, deterrence and protection of society outweighed the need for rehabilitation). “In deference to the trial judge, [the appellate court] will not substitute its view of a reasonable sentence where reasonable minds might differ.” McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (quoting Stevens, 146 Idaho at 148-49, 191 P.3d at 226-27).

Dawkins concedes that his sentence “does not exceed the statutory maximum.” (Appellant’s brief, p.3.) Idaho Code § 18-7001(2) provides that the maximum penalty for felony malicious injury to property is five years. I.C. § 18-7001(2). In this case, the district court imposed a unified sentence of five years, with two years fixed. (R., pp.50-54). Because the sentence imposed fits within the statutory limit, Dawkins “must show that the sentence, in light of the governing criteria, is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts.” State v. Strand, 137 Idaho 457, 460, 50 P.3d 472, 475 (2002). He cannot do so.

The sentence imposed was reasonable. In fashioning Dawkins’s sentence, the court considered and applied the necessary sentencing factors. (Tr. Vol. I, p.37, Ls.16-23, p.40, Ls.21-

23.) The court expressly “[gave] the most weight to [the] protection of society.” (Tr. Vol. I, p.37, Ls.21-23, p.40, Ls.21-23.) In doing so, the court placed significant weight on both the actual and potential harm caused by Dawkins’s conduct. (Tr. Vol. I, p.37, L.24 – p.39, L.17.) According to Dawkins, he left his car in the parking garage to attend a concert. (PSI, p.218.) He claimed that he developed a headache, got an Advil from someone, took it, and claimed not to be able to remember anything until later that night. (Id.) The court found that regardless of whether Dawkins was “blacked out or not,” whether he was malicious or clueless in his decision making, “people could have been very seriously hurt” and “in fact, someone was hurt by that, and a great deal of property damage was done.” (Tr. Vol I, p.38, Ls.11-16.)

The court also emphasized Dawkins’s criminal history. (Tr. Vol. I, p.33, Ls.2-24, p.38, L.17 – p.39, L.3; PSI, pp.218-20, 222, 226-32.) Dawkins has an extensive juvenile record, and he committed a hit and run with death or injury in California just before his eighteenth birthday. (R., pp.222, 226-29.) He has also been convicted of petit theft three times, misdemeanor DUI twice,³ driving without privileges twice, failure to purchase a driver’s license, reckless driving, attempting to flee from officers, failure to notify upon accident, and felony driving under the influence. (R., pp.222, 229-32.) His driver’s license was suspended and he was on felony probation for DUI at the time of this incident. (Tr. Vol. I, p.38, L.23 – p.39, L.3.) The court found that his “past crimes have not served as a warning” for Dawkins. (Tr. Vol. I, p.39, Ls.3-5.) Rather, the court found that Dawkins voluntarily chose to break the law because he had decided for himself that the law “doesn’t apply to [him].” (Tr. Vol. I, p.39, L.18 – p.40, L.2.) Dawkins’s sentence is reasonable because it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to

³ In 2016, Dawkins was charged with another DUI in California. (PSI, pp.222, 231.) That charge was still pending at the time of disposition in this case. (Id.)

achieve any or all of the related goals of sentencing, particularly in light of his extensive criminal history and the extreme danger posed by his underlying conduct.

Dawkins argues that “proper consideration of the mitigating factors in his case warranted a lesser sentence, a rider, or probation.” (Appellant’s brief, p.5.) Specifically, he points to such mitigating factors as his history of alcohol abuse, his expression of remorse, and support from an adult role model. (Appellant’s brief, pp.3-5.) However, in fashioning an appropriate sentence, the district court properly considered these mitigating factors and weighed them against relevant aggravating factors such as his criminal history. The court expressly considered the PSI materials when it rejected Dawkins’s request for a period of retained jurisdiction or probation. (Tr. Vol. I, p.33, Ls.2-5.) The PSI materials contained the relevant information regarding Dawkins’s alcohol abuse and the “supportive adult role model” in his life. (PSI, pp.232-33, 236, 241-43, 330-31.) The court also considered the defendant’s expression of remorse. (Tr. Vol. I, p.32, Ls.12-15.) Even considering these mitigating factors, a term of imprisonment was necessary to achieve the goals of sentencing. (Tr. Vol. I, p.37, L.16 – p.41, L.10.) Dawkins has failed to show otherwise.

II.

Dawkins Has Failed Show That The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied His Rule 35 Motion

A. Introduction

Dawkins next asserts that the district court abused its discretion when it denied his Rule 35 motion. (Appellant’s brief, pp.6-7.) He is incorrect. Because Dawkins failed to support his motion with any new or additional information showing that the sentence imposed was excessive, the district court properly denied the Rule 35 motion.

B. Standard Of Review

“If a sentence is within the statutory limits, a motion for reduction of sentence under Rule 35 is a plea for leniency, and we review the denial of the motion for an abuse of discretion.” State v. Grant, 154 Idaho 281, 288, 297 P.3d 244, 251 (2013) (quoting State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho 201, 203, 159 P.3d 838, 840 (2007)); see also State v. Anderson, 163 Idaho 513, 517, 415 P.3d 381, 385 (Ct. App. 2015) (“A motion for reduction of sentence under I.C.R. 35 is essentially a plea for leniency, addressed to the sound discretion of the court.”). In conducting a review “of the grant or denial of a Rule 35 motion, we consider the entire record and apply the same criteria used for determining the reasonableness of the original sentence.” Anderson, 163 Idaho at 517, 415 P.3d at 385.

C. Dawkins Has Failed To Show An Abuse Of Discretion

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Dawkins’s Rule 35 Motion. “When presenting a Rule 35 motion, the defendant must show that the sentence is excessive in light of new or additional information subsequently provided to the district court in support of the Rule 35 motion.” State v. Brunet, 155 Idaho 724, 729, 316 P.3d 640, 645 (2013) (internal quotations omitted). Dawkins attached a handwritten letter to his Rule 35 motion. (R., pp.55-61.) He contends this letter provided “new and additional information to support his request for a reduction in his fixed time to one year.” (Appellant’s brief, pp.6-7.) However, as the district court correctly found, the letter did not provide any new or additional information showing that his sentence was excessive. (R., p.63.) Rather, Dawkins’s letter merely expressed his desire to improve himself and be successful in the community. (R., p.63.) Because Dawkins failed to present any new or additional information showing that his sentence was excessive, the district

court's denial of the Rule 35 motion was not an abuse of discretion. (R., p.63.) Dawkins has failed to show otherwise.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the district court.